**NO. 46611-2-II**

**COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,  
DIVISION II**

---

**STATE OF WASHINGTON,**

**Respondent,**

**vs.**

**JAMES STERLING TURNER,**

**Appellant.**

---

**BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

**John A. Hays, No. 16654  
Attorney for Appellant**

**1402 Broadway  
Suite 103  
Longview, WA 98632  
(360) 423-3084**

**

## ***ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR***

### ***Assignment of Error***

The trial court's refusal to allow the defense to present evidence of another perpetrator violated the defendant's right to a fair trial under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment.

### ***Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error***

Does a trial court's refusal to allow the defense to present evidence of another perpetrator violate the defendant's right to a fair trial under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment in a trial in which the victim had tentatively identified another person as the possible perpetrator and in which the state presented evidence concerning the other possible perpetrator?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### *Factual History*

At about 11:00 pm on October 11, 2013, Latishia Larson was working alone at the Central Valley Texaco Station in Poulsbo preparing to close and lock up the business. RP 75-78<sup>1</sup>; CP 3. At the time there were no customers in the store. RP 75-78. As Ms Larson walked up to lock the door, a male customer came in, walked back, picked up some beer, walked up to the checkout counter and asked for two packs of cigarettes. *Id.* When Ms Larson reached up to get the cigarettes, the customer pulled out a pistol and partially obscured it with his other hand. *Id.* When Ms Larson saw the gun, which appeared to her to be a black, short 9mm automatic, she said: “Are you freaking serious?” RP 75-78, 113-114. The customer responded by saying “Times are Hard.” RP 75-78. At this point she handed over \$240 from the register and the customer, now robber, exited the store after taking the money and the cigarettes. RP 78-79. In fact, on November 5, 2013, a police officer remembers finding a realistic BB gun replica of a Smith and Wesson model MMP 40 caliber semi-automatic pistol in the defendant’s possession. RP 143-145, 149-151.

---

<sup>1</sup>The record on appeal includes 4 volumes of continuously numbered verbatim report of the jury trial. They are referred to herein as “RP [page #].” The record on appeal also includes a verbatim report of the sentencing held on August 22, 2014. It is referred to herein “RP 8/22/14 [page #].”

Once the robber was gone Ms Larson called 911. RP 79-80. Within a minute or two a number of sheriff's deputies responded to her call. *Id.* They immediately asked her to describe the robber and she responded as follows: short male, 120 to 130 pounds, about 5'1" to 5'2" wearing a black hoody, baseball cap, blue jeans, and gloves. RP 80-81, 159-160, 193-195, 209-210. When asked how she could be so specific on the height, she explained that she was 5'3" tall and that while both she and the robber were standing up she was looking straight across at him at eye level. RP 114-118. She was quite confident that he was slightly shorter than she. RP 193-195. Ms Larson also stated that she was wearing tennis shoes that night so her footwear did not give her any added height. *Id.* In the weeks that followed she added this to the description: Gap in the upper row of teeth in the middle with the lower teeth kind of "jig-jagged" about a little bit. RP 81, 159-160, 209-210..

In fact, the Texaco station where Ms Larson was working has a number of video surveillance cameras which the responding deputies reviewed that evening. RP 71-73, 81-82, 83-87, 161-162. Although grainy, one of these videos showed the robber walking up to the store while apparently smoking a cigarette. RP 196, 274. Just prior to entering the store he threw down the cigarette butt and, in the opinion of one of the deputies, apparently stepped on it. RP 161-162. However, the deputy could not be

sure because the view on the ground in that area was obscured by a newspaper box. RP 196. Upon seeing the video the deputy went outside and found two cigarette butts in the area around the newspaper box. RP 164-169. He took both as evidence. *Id.* Later testing revealed the defendant's DNA on one of the cigarette butts. RP 281-282.

One of the sheriff's deputies later prepared a photo montage with six suspects to show to Ms Larson. RP 107-108, 188-189. The defendant's photograph was not part of the montage. RP 198-199. Upon reviewing that montage, Ms Larson stated that she could not identify anyone in the montage as the robber but the person in place six did look like him. RP 107-108, 188-189, 198-199. Although she stated that he was not the robber he looked so much like the robber that he could have "been his brother." RP 123. In fact, the person whose photograph was in place six on the montage was Antonio Diaz. RP 36-38. The reason the deputy who prepared the montage included his photograph was that the deputy has seen him walking in proximity to the Texaco earlier on the night of the robbery and the officer noted that he was short in stature. RP 132.

Once the State Patrol Crime Lab identified the defendant's DNA on one of the cigarette butts taken into evidence, one of the deputies investigating the case obtained photographs of the defendant's mouth and teeth and a photograph of his head. RP 219-221, 222-224. When he showed

those photographs to Ms Larson, she stated that the defendant looked like the robber but she couldn't be sure. RP 223-224. She had no idea of the defendant's height when she made this statement. RP 123-124, 235-236.

### *Procedural History*

By information filed May 9, 2014, and later amended, the Kitsap County Prosecutor charged the defendant James Sterling Turner with one count of first degree robbery CP 1-5, 31-33. The original information lists the defendant's height as 5'8" and his weight at 170 pounds. CP 3. During pretrial motions in this case the state moved *in limine* to preclude the defense from arguing that another perpetrator committed the offense. RP 5-6. The defense responded with the following offer of proof in support of its desire to argue another perpetrator:

MS. TAYLOR: And, Your Honor, in this particular case, the robbery was committed on October 11th. And initially, throughout the investigation, there was some question as to who were potential suspects.

The clerk who was at the store during the time of the robbery gave a description of a suspect who was short in stature, between, I believe, five-one and five-three, about 130 to 140 pounds, dressed in jeans, a dark hoodie, a light-colored baseball cap.

Additionally, there was some surveillance video. On that surveillance video, the suspect was seen wearing a specific type of sneaker that was noted by police officers.

Additionally, other officers who were brought in for containment noticed a suspicious vehicle near the scene of the robbery. Their license plate was taken. That license plate was eventually connected



to Antonio Diaz through the owner of the vehicle who said at the time she was in custody and the car was either in the control of Mr. Diaz or someone else.

Mr. Diaz's physical description matched the suspect description. The clerk of the store was shown, essentially, a lineup, a six-pack. She pointed out Mr. Diaz's photo and indicated that the person who robbed the store looked like that. Subsequently, the store clerk backed off that and said, well, no, you know, he is a regular at the store; you know, he's known to the owner; you know, it's not him. However, she has maintained all along that she is unsure of who that person was, beyond this sort of somewhat vague description that was given.

Additionally, like I said, Mr. Diaz was connected to a car that was considered a potential suspect vehicle or connected to the robbery. An officer who was part of the containment noted a suspect who essentially came from the direction of the Central Valley store and was headed in the direction of the car. The car was then seen by another officer not far from the scene of the robbery.

So, therefore, I believe that there is a substantial enough basis to connect the potential of Antonio Diaz being involved in this. And that to deny my client the right to cross-examine on those facts would deny him an adequate and full defense of this case and essentially challenge his ability to fully confront the witnesses that are called in this case.

I understand that, you know, the store clerk may have changed her testimony, but simply changing, you know, her position is clearly an issue for the jury as to whether or not they believe its credible, whether or not they believe it's possible. It's not a matter of law to exclude the potential of Mr. Antonio Diaz as a suspect here when there's a number of things linking him, including the fact that he actually fits the suspect description better than my client does.

RP 6-8.

Following the state's rebuttal argument the defense added to its offer of proof and argument on its other perpetrator defense, stating as follows:

Your Honor, with regard to the lineup, I think the fact that she pointed to Mr. Diaz and says the suspect looks like him, I think that is very telling when it comes to the idea that he was ruled out conclusively. The fact that she later says it's not him is, I think, highly suspect, based on the fact that she essentially starts out by saying, I can give you this vague description and it looks like him. I think that's highly relevant to a jury, when it comes down to it.

I think, additionally, one factor that has been overlooked is that the State has claimed that this is conclusory because it comes down to the cigarette, which is based on a video, which, I think, when shown to the jury, could be open to a different interpretation.

The State would like to posit that this video conclusively shows that the person who committed this robbery was smoking a cigarette and then, basically, stomped out the cigarette. I believe that that's the province of the jury to determine if that's actually what the video shows. Because I don't necessarily agree with that. And then what goes on beyond that is that when the cigarette was found, the stomped-cigarette was found, there was also a second cigarette found. That cigarette was subsequently not tested.

I think, again, we come back to the fact that, you know, there is a realistic possibility that Antonio Diaz, although he was conclusively ruled out by the police, it's a question of whether or not that investigation was thorough and proper or whether that's an issue for the jury to consider in regard to whether or not my client is actually the person who did this.

RP 12-13.

The court took the state's motion under advisement. RP 13. Following a break in the proceedings the court reconvened the trial, granted the state's motion and precluded the defense from presenting any evidence about or arguing the existence of another perpetrator. RP 35-39. The case then proceeded to trial before a jury with the state calling eight witnesses,

including Latishia Larson, the deputies who responded to her 911 call and investigated the robbery and the state forensic scientist who performed the DNA tests. RP 71-286. They testified to the facts set out in the preceding factual history. *See Factual History, supra.*

Following the close of the state's case, the defendant took the stand for very brief testimony during which he stated that he is 5'8" tall, that he weighed 187 pounds, and that he was a smoker. RP 299-300. He then explained that one of the cigarette butts admitted into evidence was a "Camel Crush," which has a menthol packet in the filter that is activated by crushing that filter. *Id.* On cross-examination he admitted that the cigarette butt with his DNA on it was his. RP 301. However, neither the defense attorney nor the prosecutor asked him when he threw down that cigarette butt. RP 299-301.

After the close of the defendant's case the court instructed the jury with neither party making any objections. RP 303-314. The parties then presented their closing arguments and the jury retired for deliberation, eventually returning a verdict of guilty. RP 318-350, 353-357; CP 88. The court later sentenced the defendant within the standard range, after which the defendant filed timely notice of appeal. CP 97-107; 109-110.

## ARGUMENT

### THE TRIAL COURT'S REFUSAL TO ALLOW THE DEFENSE TO PRESENT EVIDENCE OF ANOTHER PERPETRATOR VIOLATED THE DEFENDANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL UNDER WASHINGTON CONSTITUTION, ARTICLE 1, § 3, AND UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT.

While due process does not guarantee every person a perfect trial, both Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment do guarantee all defendants a fair trial. *State v. Swenson*, 62 Wn.2d 259, 382 P.2d 614 (1963); *Bruton v. United States*, 391 U.S. 123, 20 L.Ed.2d 476, 88 S.Ct. 1620 (1968). As part of this right to a fair trial, a defendant charged with a crime has the right to present relevant, exculpatory evidence in his or her defense, including evidence of another perpetrator. *State v. Kwan*, 174 Wash. 528, 25 P.2d 104 (1933); *State v. Hudlow*, 99 Wn.2d 1, 659 P.2d 514 (1983); *Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. 284, 93 S.Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297 (1973).

For example, in *Chambers v. Mississippi, supra*, the defendant was charged with murder. At trial, the defense did not dispute that the decedent had died of homicidal violence. Rather, the defense attempted to elicit evidence that another person had committed the offense. Specifically, the defense called the other person, and asked if he had committed the offense. When that person denied the allegation, the defense sought to impeach him

with his prior statements admitting the murder. However, the trial court refused to allow the impeachment, holding that under the “voucher” rule a party may not impeach his or her own witness.

The defense then attempted to call the three witnesses to whom the other person had confessed committing the murder. However, the trial court refused to allow this evidence, ruling that it was inadmissible hearsay. The defendant was convicted. He then appealed, arguing that the trial court’s refusal to allow him to present evidence that another person committed the offense denied him a fair trial.

The Mississippi Supreme Court later affirmed the conviction, and the defendant obtained review before the United States Supreme Court. The Supreme Court reversed, holding that the trial court’s exclusion of the defendant’s evidence indicating that another person committed the offense denied him his right under the due process clause to a fair trial. The court stated:

Few rights are more fundamental than that of an accused to present witnesses in his own defense. In the exercise of this right, the accused, as is required of the State, must comply with established rules of procedure and evidence designed to assure both fairness and reliability in the ascertainment of guilt and innocence. Although perhaps no rule of evidence has been more respected or more frequently applied in jury trials than that applicable to the exclusion of hearsay, exceptions tailored to allow the introduction of evidence which in fact is likely to be trustworthy have long existed. The testimony rejected by the trial court here bore persuasive assurances of trustworthiness and thus was well within the basic rationale of the

exception for declarations against interest. That testimony also was critical to Chambers' defense. In these circumstances, where constitutional rights directly affecting the ascertainment of guilt are implicated, the hearsay rule may not be applied mechanistically to defeat the ends of justice.

*Chambers v. Mississippi*, 410 U.S. at 302 (citations omitted).

In order for evidence of another perpetrator to be admissible, there must be some connection between the other potential perpetrator and the crime beyond mere motive and opportunity. *State v. Maupin*, 128 Wn.2d 918, 913 P.2d 808 (1996). The Washington State Supreme Court originally stated this rule as follows in *State v. Downs*, 168 Wash. 664, 13 P.2d 1 (1932), which is still cited as the leading case on this issue:

While evidence tending to show that another party might have committed the crime would be admissible, before such testimony can be received there must be such proof of connection with it, such a train of facts or circumstances as tend clearly to point out some one besides the prisoner as the guilty party. Remote acts, disconnected and outside of the crime itself, cannot be separately proved for such a purpose.

*State v. Downs*, 168 Wash. at 667.

In *State v. Maupin, supra*, the Washington Supreme court addressed this issue in the defendant's appeal from his conviction for the felony murder with kidnaping as the underlying felony. The victim of the crime was six-years-old. On appeal, the defendant argued that the trial court had denied him a fair trial because it had granted the state's motion to exclude evidence under *Downs* from a witness who claimed to have seen the young girl alive in the

presence of another person after the state claimed the defendant had kidnaped and murdered her. In first addressing this issue, the court stated the following concerning what it characterized as the “*Downs*” doctrine.

When Washington courts have invoked the *Downs* doctrine to exclude witnesses for the defense, the basis has been the lack of connection of the proffered testimony to the crime. In *State v. Clark*, 78 Wn.App. 471, 898 P.2d 854, *review denied*, 128 Wn.2d 1004, 907 P.2d 296 (1995), for instance, the Court of Appeals upheld the trial court’s exclusion of evidence a person other than the defendant had committed arson because the defendant could show no connection other than motive between the other person and the crime. Motive alone was not enough: “[m]ere evidence of motive in another party, or motive coupled with threats of such other person, is inadmissible, unless coupled with other evidence tending to connect such other person with the actual commission of the crime charged.” *State v. Kwan*, 174 Wash. 528, 533, 25 P.2d 104 (1933), *cited with approval in State v. Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 77, 882 P.2d 747 (1994), *cert. denied*, 514 U.S. 1129, 115 S.Ct. 2004, 131 L.Ed.2d 1005 (1995). In *Russell*, a first degree murder case, the defendant attempted to introduce evidence that two other men had a motive to kill one of the victims. The trial court excluded the evidence and this court affirmed, citing *Kwan* for the proposition that mere evidence of the existence of someone else’s motive to commit the crime is not enough.

*State v. Maupin*, 128 Wn.2d at 927.

In analyzing the defendant’s argument, the court noted that the excluded evidence was more than “mere speculation” and was not solely evidence of motive or opportunity. Rather, it specifically pointed to another perpetrator. The court held:

Unlike any of the *Downs* line of cases, and contrary to the State’s argument, Brittain’s testimony was neither evidence of another’s motive nor mere speculation about the possibility that someone else might have committed the crime. Instead, Brittain would have

testified he saw the kidnaped girl with someone other than the defendant after the time of kidnapping. Although the State correctly notes this testimony would not necessarily have exculpated Maupin, as he may have been acting in concert with the persons Brittain claimed to have seen, it at least would have brought into question the State's version of the events of the kidnapping. An eyewitness account of the kidnaped girl in the company of someone other than Maupin after the time of the kidnapping certainly does point directly to someone else as the guilty party, as Downs requires.

*State v. Maupin*, 128 Wn.2d at 928.

As late as 2014 the Washington Supreme Court has reiterated the rule that the exclusion of other perpetrator evidence violates a defendant's due process right to present a defense as long as that evidence goes beyond mere motive and opportunity. In that case, *State v. Franklin*, 180 Wn. 2d 371, 325 P.3d 159 (2014), the state charged the defendant of three felonies arising from allegations that he had harassed and stalked the complaining witness by sending unwanted, threatening e-mails, text messages, and by posting multiple Craigslist advertisements listing her as someone looking to participate in paid sexual activity. At trial the defendant tried to elicit evidence that unknown to him his live-in girlfriend had committed the offenses. Specifically, the defense intended to elicit evidence that the girlfriend had previously harassed the victim and that the girlfriend had access to the defendant's computer, which the state's evidence showed had been used to send the harassing e-mails and post the phoney Craigslist advertisements.

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