NO. 46611-2-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

JAMES STERLING TURNER,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF
KITSAP COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON
Superior Court No. 14-1-00470-1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

TINA R. ROBINSON
Prosecuting Attorney

STEVEN M. LEWIS
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

614 Division Street
Port Orchard, WA 98366
(360) 337-7174

SERVICE

John A. Hays, WSBA # 16654
1402 Broadway, Suite 103
Longview, WA 98632
Email: jahays@3equitycourt.com

I. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the trial court abused its discretion when it denied the defendant's request to present other suspect evidence to the jury where the only witness said this other suspect was not the man who robbed her but could have been his brother, the police had ruled the other suspect out, and the defendant was still able to cross-examine the eyewitness as to the physical similarity this man had to the robber?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

James Sterling Turner was charged by information filed in Kitsap County Superior Court with robbery in the first degree. CP 1-2. Prior to trial, Turner was arraigned on an amended information filed to reflect the correct incident date of the crime but otherwise leaving the crime charged as robbery in the first degree. CP 31-33, RP 3-4. Following trial by jury, Mr. Turner was convicted of the single count of robbery in the first degree. RP 354-57, CP 88. He was sentenced to 66 months in prison. CP 97-107, 108. This appeal follows.

B. FACTS

On October 11, 2013, gas station convenience store cashier Latishia Larson prepared to close up the Central Valley Texaco in Silverdale just prior to 11 p.m. RP 71-76. A man walked in as she was in

the process of closing and went back to the store's beer section. RP 76. He was wearing gloves, blue jeans, a black hoodie and a baseball cap. RP 79. The man grabbed a beer and then came up to the register and asked Ms. Larson for two packs of cigarettes. RP 76. While Ms. Larson reached for the cigarettes, the man pulled out a gun and told her to give him the money from her till. RP 76. She replied, "Are you fricking serious?" RP 76. The man responded, "Times are hard." RP 76. Ms. Larson gave him \$240 from the till. RP 77. He grabbed the cigarettes off the counter, took the money, and walked out of the store. RP 78. Ms. Larson called 911 and reported the robbery. RP 79.

Kitsap County sheriff's deputies responded within minutes. RP 79, 127-28, 157. K-9 handler Deputy Daniel Twomey immediately began tracking the robbery suspect with his canine partner, Heiko. RP 127-29. The trail of the robbery suspect ended a few hundred yards up the road where Heiko lost the scent of the suspect because he had likely left the scene in a vehicle. RP 130. Deputy Jason Hedstrom took down Ms. Larson's description of the robber. RP 160. Ms. Larson described the gun the man carried as a nine-millimeter pistol. RP 77. Ms. Larson recalled the robber as being short in stature. RP 79-80, 132. The most distinctive thing Ms. Larson noticed about the robber was his teeth. RP 81. She described his teeth as having a gap in the middle upper row of teeth and as

his lower teeth being “jig-jagged around a little bit.” RP 81.

After taking a statement from Latishia Larson, Deputy Hedstrom reviewed the video surveillance of the store during the robbery. RP 159, 161. Deputy Hedstrom viewed the suspect approaching the store counter, pulling a weapon out, and communicating with the clerk. RP 162. The video surveillance revealed that the robber, prior to entering the store, smoked a cigarette just outside the store. RP 162. Deputy Hedstrom observed the suspect on video smoking and discarding the cigarette just prior to entering the store. RP 162. Deputy Hedstrom walked outside the store and located a cigarette on the sidewalk that matched the location where had observed the suspect on video discard the cigarette. RP 165. This cigarette was an all white cigarette with a picture of a camel on it and blue and green stripes. RP 165. It was located approximately one foot from a newspaper vending machine. RP 171. Deputy Hedstrom also noticed a tan cigarette at the base of this newspaper vending machine. RP 167, 173. These were the only cigarettes observed by the deputy. RP 169. He recovered both of the cigarettes as evidence and later sent them off to the state crime lab for DNA testing. RP 175, 180-81, 185-86.

After collecting the cigarette evidence, Deputy Hedstrom put together a photo montage to show to Latishia Larson. Based on information that a particular person and a vehicle associated with him had

been seen in the area sometime prior to the robbery, Deputy Hedstrom included that person's photograph in the photo montage. RP 132, 187. Deputy Hedstrom showed the photo montage to Latishia Larson. RP 107, 187. She told him that the guy that robbed her looked like the guy in the bottom right-hand corner but that the guy in the picture was not him. RP 107. She checked the box on the montage form that stated: "I cannot identify any of the persons in the photographs." RP 107, 189-90. She then handwrote the following: "The guy looks like the bottom right." RP 108. Ms. Larson was consistent that she did not believe the person pictured on the bottom right was the robbery suspect, but she believed that the person did look like the robbery suspect. RP 108, 189.

On October 14, 2013, Detective Tim Keeler of the Kitsap County Sheriff's Office took over the lead role in investigating the Central Valley Texaco robbery. RP 192, 209. Based on Ms. Larson's response that the person on the bottom-right of Deputy Hedstrom's photomontage looked like the robbery suspect but was not the robbery suspect, Detective Keeler decided to investigate that person a bit further. RP 211. He spoke to the individual and took pictures of his mouth and face to show to Latishia Larson. RP 211. On October 15th, Detective Keeler met with Ms. Larson and showed her the pictures. RP 212. She told him the man's teeth did not look like the robber's teeth. RP 213. She recognized the man's face

as that of a regular customer at the store. RP 109-110, 213. Ms. Larson said that he was not the person that committed the robbery. RP 109-110, 213. Based on Ms. Larson's statement, Detective Keeler no longer considered the man in the bottom-right hand of Deputy Hedstrom's photo montage to be a suspect or person of interest in the Central Valley Texaco robbery. RP 213.

Jennifer Venditto, a DNA forensic scientist with the Washington State Patrol Crime Laboratory, was assigned the task of identifying whether any DNA could be obtained from the cigarette evidence submitted by Deputy Hedstrom. RP 253-270. Ms. Venditto was able to extract DNA from both cigarettes. RP 269-71. Prior to uploading the extracted DNA samples into the FBI's CODIS database, Ms. Venditto contacted Deputy Hedstrom and Detective Keeler to verify that both samples were associated with a suspected criminal. RP 271-72. State permission to use the FBI's CODIS database is conditioned on only uploading samples that are believed to come from crime suspects rather than victims or random people off the street. RP 271-272, 274-75. After speaking with Deputy Hedstrom and Detective Keeler, Ms. Venditto only uploaded the DNA extracted from the white cigarette into the CODIS database. RP 273-274. She chose to upload only the DNA from the white cigarette based on conversations with the investigating officers and the

fact that the white one appeared to have been flattened while the tan cigarette was not. RP 232, 274.

On March 4, 2014, Detective Tim Keeler received a report from Jennifer Venditto indicating that she had determined that the DNA extracted from the flattened white cigarette matched the DNA in the CODIS database of a James Clark, date of birth 11/28/1980. RP 214, 275-278. James Clark was an alias for the defendant, James Turner. RP 214. Detective Keeler interviewed the defendant, James Turner, on March 12th concerning the Central Valley Texaco robbery that occurred in October. RP 215. On March 28th, Detective Keeler obtained a saliva sample from Mr. Turner in order to have Ms. Venditto conduct a follow-up DNA comparison of Turner's DNA with the suspect's DNA on the discarded cigarette. RP 215-216, 279-281.

With James Turner now identified as a suspect in the Central Valley Texaco robbery, Detective Keeler reviewed local police reports that mentioned Turner's name. RP 218. He located several from an incident involving Turner in November 2013 that piqued the detective's interest. RP 218-219, RP 143-45, 150, 205-06. On November 5, 2013, during a criminal trespass investigation, Deputy Brittany Gray located a backpack belonging to James Turner that had an apparent firearm inside. RP 144. Further investigation revealed that the firearm was actually a

pellet gun replica of a Smith & Wesson MMP 40, semi-automatic pistol. RP 143-145, 152-53. The backpack contained James Turner's identification inside. RP 143-44. When interviewed by a detective a couple of days later, Turner admitted that he was the owner of the replica BB gun as well as the backpack that was found in the home as described by Deputy Gray during her trespass investigation. RP 150, 143-45.

In June 2014, Detective Keeler took photographs of James Turner's teeth and face to show to Latishia Larson. RP 220. Ms. Larson agreed that Turner's teeth looked like the robber's teeth except she did not recall the missing lower tooth that Turner had. RP 110-111, 223. Ms. Larson said that Turner's face looked like the robber's face but at the time of the robbery he did not have facial hair. RP 223-24. In July, Detective Keeler reviewed the cigarette and video evidence in the Central Valley Texaco robbery case again and confirmed that the white flattened cigarette was the one discarded by the robbery suspect. RP 232-33. Jennifer Venditto's test of James Turner's saliva DNA against the DNA from the flattened white cigarette came back as a match. RP 281. She estimated the probability of selecting an unrelated individual at random from the U.S. population with a matching profile as one in 41 quadrillion. RP 282.

Prior to Turner's trial, the State moved in limine to prevent the defense from introducing evidence of another suspect. CP 36, RP 5-14.

Specifically the defense wanted to bring up Antonio Diaz as the other suspect, the man whose photograph was in the lower right-hand corner of Deputy Hedstrom's photo montage. RP 5-8, 12-13, 235. After hearing the parties' arguments on the issue, the trial court recessed to review the relevant case law. RP 32-33. The following day, the trial court granted the State's motion in limine:

There is some evidence that, perhaps at least at the outset, there was some evidence that perhaps Mr. Diaz was involved in this. There was the issue of his possible connection to a car that was seen in and around the area at the time of the robbery. There was also an initial photo montage to the clerk in which she indicated that the person who committed the robbery looked most like Mr. Diaz, but that ultimately she indicated that it was not Mr. Diaz.

And so in looking at *Mak*, I think that the language is pretty strong in terms of what has to be established in order for the Court to admit other suspect evidence, specifically, that such a train of facts -- those are the words they use -- such a train of facts or circumstances as tend to clearly point out someone besides the accused as the guilty party. And I'm not finding that there is clear evidence to point out that someone other than Mr. Turner as the accused could be the guilty party, I guess, in using the language of *Mak*, to the offers of proof that were presented yesterday. So while there, at least at the outset, there was a possibility Mr. Diaz was involved, and as Ms. Taylor points out, a reasonable possibility, I'm not finding that that possibility clearly establishes someone other than the accused, which is the test under *Mak*. So I'm granting Motion in Limine No. 7.

RP 36. When the State indicated its witnesses might inadvertently bring up the subject of Mr. Diaz, the trial court indicated it was granting the

motion but recognized that testimony related to Mr. Diaz may go to witness credibility:

So what I'm prohibiting at this point is the defense from raising the issue of other suspect evidence, but to the extent that there may be other reasons why the information can come in, that would be permissible, I would think.

So I guess I would just say, Mr. Davy, it's up to you in terms of, it's your case in chief, you will start, and to the extent that certain information is elicited that may open the door, so be it. But I guess we will have to address it as it comes.

RP 37-39.

At James Turner's trial, the witnesses testified in accordance with the narrative above. In addition, the parties agreed to have a stipulated fact read to the jury by the judge during the State's case-in-chief: "That defendant, James Sterling Turner, lost his lower front tooth after October 11, 2013." RP 242. Mr. Turner took the stand in his defense. RP 298-301. He testified that he was five feet, eight inches tall and that he smoked Camel Crush brand cigarettes. RP 300. Turner explained that the user "squishes" the cigarettes filter to release menthol into the cigarette. RP 300. On cross-examination, Turner acknowledged that the white cigarette in evidence was his cigarette: "I think it's been proven that that's my cigarette, yes." RP 300-301. Turner never denied robbing the Central Valley Texaco on October 11, 2013, nor did he offer any explanation for

how his cigarette came to be there. RP 298-301.

III. ARGUMENT

- A. **TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN EXCLUDING OTHER SUSPECT EVIDENCE WHERE SOLE WITNESS TO THE CRIME CONSISTENTLY DENIED THAT THE OTHER SUSPECT WAS THE PERPETRATOR, POLICE RULED OUT OTHER SUSPECT EARLY ON IN THEIR INVESTIGATION, AND OTHER SUSPECT WAS SHOWN TO MERELY HAVE OPPORTUNITY TO COMMIT CRIME BUT NO OTHER EVIDENCE WAS PROFFERED TO TIE OTHER SUSPECT TO THE CHARGED CRIME.**

Turner argues that the trial court erred in not allowing the defense to present other suspect evidence. This claim is without merit because the defendant's proffer failed to connect the other suspect to the robbery itself except to show that he had the opportunity to be the perpetrator because he or a car associated with him was possibly seen in the area on the day in question. Mere opportunity alone has never been held sufficient to place other suspect evidence before a jury. *State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 857, 83 P.3d 970 (2004)

This court has previously stated:

A defendant in a criminal case has a constitutional right to present a defense consisting of relevant evidence that is not otherwise inadmissible. Nonetheless, the admission or refusal of evidence lies largely within the sound discretion

of the trial court; its decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. An abuse of discretion exists only where no reasonable person would take the position adopted by the trial court.

State v. Rehak, 67 Wn.App. 157, 162, 834 P.2d 651 (1992), *cert. denied* 508 U.S. 953, 113 S.Ct. 2449, 124 L.Ed.2d 665 (1993)(internal citations omitted); *Accord State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 856-857, 83 P.3d 970 (2004). “Washington permits a criminal defendant to present evidence that another person committed the crime when he can establish “a train of facts or circumstances as tend clearly to point out some one besides the prisoner as the guilty party.”” *State v. Hilton*, 164 Wn.App. 81, 99, 261 P.3d 683 (2011)(citing *State v. Downs*, 168 Wash. 664, 667, 13 P.2d 1(1932); *State v. Rehak*, 67 Wn.App. 157, 162, 834 P.2d 651 (1992), *cert. denied* 508 U.S. 953, 113 S.Ct. 2449, 124 L.Ed.2d 665 (1993)).

“When there is no other evidence tending to connect another person with the crime, such as his bad character, his means or opportunity to commit the crime, or even his conviction of the crime, such other evidence is irrelevant to exculpate the accused.” *State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 857, 83 P.3d 970 (2004)(citing *State v. Downs*, 168 Wash 664, 667, 13 P.2d 1 (1932); *State v. Maupin*, 128 Wn.2d 918, 925, 913 P.2d 808(1996)). “Mere opportunity to commit the crime is not enough as such evidence is “the most remote kind of speculation.”” *State v. Thomas*,

150 Wn.2d 821, 857, 83 P.3d 970 (2004)(citing *Downs*, 168 Wash. at 668, 13 P.2d 1). Motive alone is also insufficient. *State v. Kwan*, 174 Wn.528, 533, 25 P.2d 104 (1933); *State v. Condon*, 72 Wn.App. 638, 647, 865 P.2d 521 (1993), *review denied*, 123 Wn.2d 1031, 877 P.2d 694 (1994). The United States Supreme Court has cited approvingly the Washington standard for admitting third party perpetrator evidence. *State v. Hilton*, 164 Wn.App. 81, 99, 261 P.3d 683 (2011)(citing *Holmes v. South Carolina*, 547 U.S. 319, 327, 126 S.Ct. 1727, 164 L.Ed.2d 503 (2006)).

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